Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-20-2019 Page 1 of 36

RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCON 2019 DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

District 2

v.

Appeal No. 2019AP001488

BARTOSZ MIKA,

Defendant-Appellant.

Circuit Court Case No. 2019TR000490

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY,
THE HON. KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, PRESIDING

SUBMITTED BY: Lichtsinn & Haensel, S.C. Joseph A. Abruzzo, State Bar No. 1055085 111 E. Wisconsin Ave., #1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 276-3400

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Circuit Court commit error reopening the evidence and adjourning

the Hearing after the Parties rested and gave closing arguments upon determining

that the State failed to prove its case?

CIRCUIT COURT ANSWER: No.

Did the Circuit Court commit error in determining that the collective

knowledge doctrine was not applicable to matter?

CIRCUIT COURT ANSWER: No

Did the State provide sufficient evidence to establish that there was

reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop?

CIRCUIT COURT ANSWER: Yes

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises out of a Refusal Hearing that spanned two dates. At the

initial Refusal Hearing, the State failed to produce any witnesses that could provide

testimony related to the traffic stop of the Defendant. After closing arguments, the

Circuit Court, sua sponte, reopened the evidence, adjourned the Refusal Hearing,

and ordered the State to produce its witness that made the traffic stop of the

Defendant. At the adjourned Refusal Hearing, the State produced the deputy that

initiated the traffic stop, but it failed to produce the off-duty officer that provided

the basis for the reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop to police dispatch.

1

Defendant-Appellant maintains that the State failed to prove its case at the initial Refusal Hearing and the matter should be dismissed. The Circuit Court agreed that the State failed to prove its case, but refused to dismiss the matter, reopened the evidence, and adjourned the hearing to provide the State with an additional opportunity to meet its burden. Even being provided a second opportunity, the State again failed to meet its burden to produce all necessary witnesses.

B. Procedural Status of the Case Leading Up to the Appeal

The Defendant was the subject of a traffic stop initiated by an officer in the Walworth County Sheriff's Department on the evening of February 18, 2019 that ultimately resulted in the Defendant being issued two citations: (1) Operating While Intoxicated (1st Offense); and (2) Refusal to Take Test for Intoxication. (R.1). On February 19, 2019 (the "Refusal Hearing"), the State filed its Notice of Intent to Revoke Operating Privilege. (R.1). The Defendant timely requested a refusal hearing, and the Circuit Court held a Refusal Hearing on June 10, 2019. (A. App. 1-31, R.12). The State called one witness at the June 10, 2019 Refusal Hearing; however, the State's sole witness was unable to provide any evidence to establish reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop on the Defendant. (A. App. 16, R.12, p.16, 11. 6-25, p.17, 11. 1-23). The State rested its case upon the conclusion of its sole witness. (A. App. 21, R.12, p. 21, 11. 20). The Defense did not call any witnesses at the June 10, 2019 Refusal Hearing, and moved the Circuit Court to dismiss the matter as the State failed to provide any evidence to establish that there was reasonable suspicion to initiate the traffic stop. (A. App. 21-22, R.12, pp. 21-22, 11. 21-25, 1-2). The Circuit Court heard arguments from the State as well as the Defense. (A. App. 22-27, R.12 pp. 22-27). At the conclusion of closing arguments, the Circuit Court agreed that the State failed to meet its burden to establish reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop on the Defendant. However, the Circuit Court stated, "But because of the public interest and the Court determining whether or not this was a legitimate stop or not I need to hear from Deputy Fiedler. So I am going to set this over for another date so that he can be brought in to testify." (A. App. 28, R.12, p. 28,11. 13-18). The Defense objected to the adjournment. (A. App. 29, R.12, p. 29, 11. 4-16). The Circuit Court opined, "There's no doubt in my mind that he was driving drunk that night according to the testimony I already have." (A. App. 30, R.12, p.30, 11. 2-4). The Circuit Court then proceeded to schedule an adjourned hearing to obtain additional evidence.

On July 30, 2019, the Circuit Court held a Continued Refusal Hearing (the "Continued Refusal Hearing"). (A. App. 32-68, R.13). Prior to the commencement of the Continued Refusal Hearing, the Defendant renewed his objection to the Circuit Court's decision to adjourn the original Refusal Hearing upon determining that the State failed to meet its burden. (A. App. 34-37. R.13, p. 3-6). The Circuit Court, while recognizing that the State failed to meet its burden at the initial Refusal Hearing, again denied Defense's objection, citing the "interests ofjustice." (A. App. 38-39, R.13, p. 7-8). The State then produced one additional witness at the Continued Refusal Hearing, the Officer that initiated the traffic stop of the

Defendant. (A. App. 39-44, R. 13, pp. 8-13). At the conclusion of the Continued Refusal Hearing, the Circuit Court held that the Defendant violated Wisconsin's implied consent law, Wis. Stat. § 343.305 and issued the required penalties. (A. App. 57-63, R.13, pp. 26-32).

On August 13, 2019, Defendant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R.8).

On August 14, 2019, the Circuit Court transmitted the record to the Court of Appeals. (R.9).

The Court of Appeals, through correspondence dated September 13, 2019, initially questioned whether it possessed jurisdiction over this matter. **A11** jurisdictional issues were resolved though the Circuit Court's entry of an Order dated October 2, 2019. (R. 17).

On October 11, 2019, the Circuit Court transmitted the Supplemental Notice of Compilation of Record to the Court of Appeals. (R.15).

C. Disposition of the Trial Court

On June 10, 2019, by Oral Decision, the Circuit Court held that the State failed to prove its case by failing to have necessary witnesses provide testimony, stating in part:

And although Deputy Blanchard testified generally speaking about what Deputy Fiedler had seen there was basically only one vague comment that the vehicle matched the description, and Fiedler had only seen one other vehicle or something like that out by Alpine; that's not enough for this Court to link it, quite frankly... You needed to have Deputy Fiedler here.

(A.App. 28, R.12, p. 28, 11.5-13).

However, the Circuit Court, *sua sponte*, reopened the evidence and set the matter over for another hearing in order to permit the State to bring in additional witnesses to prove its case. The Defendant objected to the adjournment, and the Circuit Court stated:

I put on the record the reason why I'm doing this, because it's a public safety concern. There's no doubt in my mind that he was driving drunk that night according to the testimony I already have. The question is whether or not they had the right to pull him over and that's what I need to determine and that's my job.

On July 30, 2019, by oral ruling, the Circuit Court once again denied the Defendant's objection to the reopening of evidence, adjournment, and continuation of the Refusal Hearing, stating, in part:

You're right, evidence had closed, parties had made their argument...The state here, quite frankly, made a mistake. They did not bring in the witnesses that they needed to have for that hearing, but that's not the same as the fact that those witnesses did not exist and that the Court is somehow manipulating the evidence or the circumstances to make something when there is nothing there...It would have been very easy for the Court at the end of that other hearing to just say there's not enough here, I'm dismissing it. But the Court knew from the testimony of the deputy that did testify that there was other evidence out there that was necessary in order of this Court to engage in a full examination of the facts surrounding this incident involving this defendant and this civil matter refusal.

Upon completion of the Continued Refusal Hearing, on July 30, 2019 the Circuit Court, by Oral Decision, held that the Defendant violated Wisconsin's implied consent law, Wis. Stat. § 343.305. (A. App. 32-68, R.13). A written order to this effect was executed by the Circuit Court on October 2, 2019. (R.15).

D. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review.

The State filed this matter in Walworth County Circuit Court on February 19, 2019, asserting that the Defendant, Bartosz Mika ("Mika") violated Wis. Stat. § 343.305(10), alleging that Mika improperly refused to take a test for intoxication. (R.1). Mika timely filed a request for a Refusal Hearing. (R.3). The Refusal Hearing was set for June 10, 2019. (A. App. 1-31, R.12).

At the June 10, 2019 Refusal Hearing, the State produced one single witness, Deputy Wayne Blanchard of the Walworth County Sheriff's Department. (A. App. 1-31, R. 12). Deputy Blanchard testified that he heard a dispatch callout of an intoxicated male who was being disorderly with security staff at Alpine Valley and had left in a dark vehicle. (A. App. 5, R.12, p.5, 11.16-20). By the time Deputy Blanchard was able to make contact with Mika, Mika was already stopped by another Deputy from the Walworth County Sheriff's Department, Deputy Fiedler. (A. App. 5-6, R.12, pp. 5-6, 11. 21-25, 1-4). Deputy Blanchard then testified about his initial observations of Mika, and further, Deputy Blanchard had Mika perform standard field sobriety tests. (A. App. 7, R.12, p. 7, 11. 5-14). Deputy Blanchard further testified that based upon his experience, as well as Mika's performance on the standard field sobriety tests, he believed that Mika was intoxicated, and placed

Mika under arrest. (A. App. 13-14, R.12, pp. 13-14, 11. 12-25, 1). Subsequent to placing Mika under arrest, Deputy Blanchard transported Mika to the Walworth County Jail where he read Mika the Informing the Accused, upon which Mika refused to provide Deputy Blanchard with a sample of his breath. (A. App. 14, R.12, p.14, 11. 2-24).

Deputy Blanchard testified that he did not initiate the traffic stop on Mika, personally witness Mika commit any traffic violations, witness Mika engage in any erratic driving, nor witness any mechanical defects on Mika's vehicle. (A. App. 16, R.12, p. 16,11. 16-20). Further, the sole articulable fact of intoxication or a violation of any traffic law attributable to Mika that Deputy Blanchard was aware of prior to the traffic stop on Mika was based upon the dispatch callout of an intoxicated individual. (A. App. 16-17, R.12, pp.16-17, 11. 21-25, 1-14). While Deputy Blanchard stated that he knew the individual that placed the call to dispatch was an off-duty Sheriffs Deputy, Deputy Blanchard never spoke to that individual, either before or after the stop of Mika. (A. App. 17, R.12, p. 17, 11. 3-18). Deputy Blanchard confirmed that "he had no reasonable suspicion" to make a traffic stop on Mika. (A. App. 17, R.12, p. 17, 11. 21-23).

Additionally, with regards to the dispatch callout, Deputy Blanchard testified that the sole report was for an intoxicated male driving a dark vehicle. (A. App. 5, R.12, p. 5, 11.16-20). Dispatch failed to provide any additional details to Deputy Blanchard, including the ethnicity of the driver, a make or model of the vehicle, or even a partial license plate of the vehicle. (A. App. 19-20, R. 12, pp. 19-20, 11. 18-

25, 1-10). Further, Deputy Blanchard agreed that "any dark vehicle" in the vicinity could have been subject of a traffic stop that evening and it would have matched the dispatch callout. (A. App. 20, R. 12, p. 20, 11. 2-10).

At the conclusion of Deputy Blanchard's testimony, the State rested its case. (A. App. 21, R.12, p.21, 11. 20). The State failed to call Deputy Fiedler (the Deputy that Deputy Blanchard testified initiated the traffic stop on Mika). The State failed to call the off-duty deputy that made the call to dispatch reporting that there was an intoxicated male who was being disorderly with security. The State failed to call a single witness to establish that there was reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop on Mika. Rather, the State rested its case.

Mika moved to dismiss the matter as the State failed to meet its burden of proof by failing to prove reasonable suspicion to initiate the traffic stop. The Circuit Court heard arguments from counsel, and ultimately, while agreeing that the State failed to meet its burden, ordered that the evidence be reopened, the matter adjourned and the Refusal Hearing continued so that the State could produce Deputy Fiedler to provide testimony related to the traffic stop on Mika. (A. App. 27-30, R.12, pp. 27-30). The State never requested an adjournment or continuation of the Refusal Hearing. (A. App. 1-31, R.12). The Circuit Court made this decision on its own and stated: "So I am going to set this over for another date so that he [Deputy Fiedler] can be brought in to testify." (A. App. 28, R.12, p. 28, 11.17-18). "Deputy Blanchard wasn't able to testify enough about what Deputy Fiedler saw and knew and did." (A. App. 29, R.12, p. 29, 11. 1-2).

Mika objected to the reopening of the evidence and the adjournment and continuation of the Refusal Hearing. (A. App. 29, R.12, p.29,11.4-16). The Circuit Court denied Mika's objection, and stated that it was adjourning and continuing the Refusal Hearing "because it's a public safety concern. There's no doubt in my mind he was driving drunk that night according to the testimony I already have. The question is whether or not they had the right to pull him over and that's what I need to determine and that's my job." (A. App. 30, R.12, p. 30, 11. 1-6).

The Continued Refusal Hearing occurred on July 30, 2019. (A. App. 32-68, R.13). Prior to taking any testimony, Mika again renewed his objection to the Circuit Court's reopening of evidence, adjournment and continuation of the Refusal Hearing. (A. App. 34-37, R.13, pp.3-6). The Circuit Court again recognized that the State failed to prove its case at the initial Refusal Hearing before the State rested its case, stating: "The state here, quite frankly, made a mistake. They did not bring in the witnesses that they needed to have here for that hearing, but that's not the same as the fact that those witnesses did not exist and that the Court is somehow manipulating the evidence or the circumstances to make something when there is nothing there." (A. App. 47-54, R.13, p. 7, 11. 16-23). The Court continued, stating that its decision to reopen the evidence was "in the interest of the public and public safety." (A. App. 39, R.13, p.8, 11. 4-5).

Once the evidence was reopened, the State called one witness, Deputy Brody Fiedler. (A. App. 39, R.13, p.8, 11. 23-24). Deputy Fiedler testified that he also heard the dispatch callout for a male that was intoxicated and disorderly at Alpine

Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-20-2019 Page 16 of 36

Valley. (A. App. 40-41, R.13, pp. 9-10, 11. 24-25, 1-2). Deputy Fiedler provided additional detail from the dispatch callout that Deputy Blanchard failed to provide, namely, Deputy Fiedler testified that dispatch gave a make of the vehicle, along with a statement that the vehicle had Illinois plates'. (A. App. 41, R.13, p.10, 11. 6-9). Subsequent to receiving the dispatch callout, Deputy Fiedler stated that he saw a vehicle matching the description that was reported, he thought the vehicle was driving slow, and initiated a traffic stop of the vehicle. (A. App. 42-43, R.13, pp.11-12, 11. 3-25, 1-7). In particular, Deputy Fiedler testified that he had "reasonable suspicion that the vehicle was the suspect vehicle so I conducted a traffic stop believing that the driver was possibly impaired, because that was part of the report from the off-duty deputy²who was on scene." (A. App. 43, R.13, p.12, 11. 3-7). Deputy Fiedler then concluded that the vehicle he stopped was Mika's, and Deputy Fiedler gave his initial impressions of Mika. (A. App. 43-44, R.13, pp. 12-13, 11. 14-25, 11. 1-3).

During cross-examination, Deputy Fiedler acknowledged that dispatch callout that he was relying upon solely used the words "intoxicated and disorderly male." (A. App. 44, R.13, p.13, 11. 13-25). Deputy Fiedler was not provided with any additional information from dispatch, such as why they believed the individual was intoxicated or what signs of intoxication were observed. (A. App. 44-45, R.13,

^{&#}x27;The State never introduced a transcript from the dispatch callout.

²Deputy Fiedler provided testimony that the initial call to dispatch was from an off-duty deputy at Alpine Valley. However, as discussed in more detail throughout, the State failed to call this off-duty deputy as a witness.

> pp. 13-14, 11. 13-25, 1-8). Additionally, just like Deputy Blanchard, Deputy Fiedler never spoke to the off-duty deputy that made the initial call to dispatch and never verified the information provided to dispatch. (A. App. 45, R.13. p. 14, 11. 9-16). Deputy Fiedler testified that he only followed Mika's vehicle for a quarter mile, and during that time, Deputy Fiedler did not witness Mika commit any traffic violations, swerve out of his lane, or have any mechanical defects. (A. App. 47, R.13, p. 16,11. 8-16). Rather, Deputy Fiedler's sole reason for the stop, as stated on direct examination, was that he had "reasonable suspicion that the vehicle was the suspect vehicle." (A. App. 43, R.13, p.12, 11. 3-7). Deputy Fiedler did not issue Mika any citations. (A. App. 47-48, R.13, pp.16-17, 11. 25, 1-2). Deputy Fiedler never spoke to the individual that made the initial call to dispatch, never obtained a written statement from that individual, and never felt the need to contact that individual. (A. App. 48-49, R.13, pp. 17-18, 11. 20-25, 1-8). Additionally, Deputy Fiedler confirmed that dispatch failed to provide him with a race of the suspect, an age of the suspect, or whether the suspect vehicle was a sedan or SUV; rather, it was just an intoxicated, disorderly male in a dark Audi with Illinois plates. (A. App. 49, R.13, p. 18, 11. 9-23).

> Upon the completion of Deputy Fiedler's testimony, the State rested. The State failed to call the individual that placed the initial call to dispatch reporting the intoxicated and disorderly male leaving Alpine Valley. While Deputy Fiedler and Deputy Blanchard testified that the report came from an off-duty sheriff's deputy, neither of them ever spoke to this individual or obtained a written statement from

Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-20-2019 Page 18 of 36

this individual, and the individual was not called as a witness. The State failed to provide any testimony related to the collective knowledge that supported the traffic stop on Mika.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Committed Error By Finding that the Defendant Violated Wisconsin's Implied Consent Law, Wis. Stat. § 343.305.

Whether there was probable cause or reasonable suspicion to conduct a stop is a question of constitutional fact, which is a mixed question of law and fact to which this court shall apply a two-step standard of review. First, this Court shall review the Circuit Court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard. Second, this Court shall review the application of those historical facts to the constitutional principles independent of the determinations rendered by the Circuit Court. *In re Refusal of Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, ¶21, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675.

"A law enforcement officer may lawfully conduct an investigatory stop if, based upon the officer's experience, he or she reasonably suspects "that criminal activity may be afoot." *State v. Wittrock*, 2012 WI App 40, ¶6, 340 Wis. 2d 499, 812 N.W.2d 540 (unpublished), citing *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶21, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1969)). "Reasonable suspicion is dependent on whether the officer's suspicion was grounded in specific, articulable facts, and reasonable inferences

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