Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2019 Page 1 of 28

**RECEIVED** 

12-20-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL NO. 2019AP001488

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BARTOSZ MIKA,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY

Zeke S. Wiedenfeld District Attorney for Walworth County, Wisconsin

By: Andrew R. Herrmann
Assistant District Attorney
Attorney for PlaintiffRespondent
State Bar No. 1091342

#### ADDRESS:

P.O. Box 1001 Elkhorn, WI 53121 (262) 741-7198

Argument.	
I.	The trial court did not abuse its discretion by sua sponte reopening the evidence and adjourning the hearing
II.	The tip to dispatch, combined with Deputy Fiedler's observations, was sufficiently reliable for Deputy Fiedler to conduct an investigatory stop of Mika in this case16-25
Conclusion	n
Certificat	tion

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:
--------

Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143 (1972)
Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325 (1990)
County of Dane v. Sharpee, 154 Wis.2d 515, 453 N.W.2d 508 (Ct. App. 1990)
Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266 (2000)
State v. Amos, 220 Wis.2d 793, 584 N.W.2d 170 (Ct. App. 1990)
State v. Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis.2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675 14, 16
State v. Anderson, 155 Wis.2d 77, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1998)
State v. Hanson, 85 Wis.2d 233, 270 N.W.2d 212, 215 (1978)
State v. Kolk, 2006 WI App 261, 298 Wis.2d 99, 726 N.W.2d 337
State v. Paszek, 50 Wis.2d 619, 194 N.W.2d 836 (1971)20
State v. Richardson, 156 Wis.2d 128, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990)
State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis.2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516 19-21, 23-24
State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996)
Stivarius v. DiVall, 121 Wis. 2d 145, 358 N.W.2d 530 (1984)
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968) 16-17, 25

Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2019 Page 4 of 28

OTHE	R AUTH	OR.	ITY:										
Wis.	Stat.	S	968.24.										17

1. Did the circuit court properly exercise its discretion by reopening the evidence and adjourning the hearing?

Circuit Court Answer: Yes.

2. Was there reasonable suspicion for stopping the defendant-appellant's vehicle?

Circuit Court Answer: Yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The state believes that the briefs of the parties will set forth well-established legal authority governing the issues presented. Resolution of the issues in this case requires only application of these established legal principles to the particular facts of this case. The state therefore requests neither oral argument nor publication.

# STATEMENT OF FACTS FROM THE REFUSAL HEARINGS RELEVANT TO REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP

#### June 10, 2019 Hearing:

## Deputy Blanchard's Testimony:

At the refusal hearing held on June 10, 2019 the State called one witness, Walworth County Sheriff's Deputy Wayne Blanchard (R12:4-20). Deputy Blanchard testified that around 10:00 p.m. on February 18, 2019, he was on duty and advised by dispatch of an intoxicated male who was being disorderly with security staff at Alpine Valley. Dispatch

advised that the intoxicated disorderly male had just left Alpine Valley in a dark colored vehicle with Illinois plates (R12:5, 15-16, 19-20). The caller was a security guard at Alpine Valley, identified as off-duty Sheriff's Deputy Ruszkiewicz, who has over twenty-four years law enforcement experience (R12:16-17).

After receiving this information, Deputy Blanchard responded to the area. While en route, Deputy Blanchard was advised that Deputy Fiedler had located the suspect vehicle and had conducted a traffic stop on that vehicle on Highway 120 just south of Highway D in Walworth County, Wisconsin (R12:5-6, 16, 20). Upon arrival on scene, Deputy Blanchard spoke with Deputy Fiedler who advised that he made contact with both occupants of the vehicle, identified them, and believed that the driver was intoxicated because he smelled an odor of intoxicants on the driver's breath (R12:6). The driver was identified as Bartosz Mika (R12:6-7).

# THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Following Deputy Blanchard's testimony, the State rested and Mika's attorney moved the Court to dismiss the matter alleging the State had failed to produce any evidence of reasonable suspicion for the stop (R12:21-22). The State responded that the "issue of this hearing is

limited to whether or not this deputy had probable cause to believe that this defendant was driving or operating a motor vehicle." (R12:22).

The trial court subsequently continued the hearing, stating:

Here's the bottom line for the Court. I'm continuing this. You need to have Deputy Fiedler here.

I don't know if you didn't know that he was the one who made the stop or not. It's an OWI and it's a refusal so in the interest of public safety I need to hold a full hearing in this regard.

There's no doubt in the Court's mind once Deputy Blanchard came on scene that when he - I don't need anymore testimony about whether or not there was probable cause for him to arrest him at that point. From the field sobriety, from his observations of the defendant, that's not the question. The question for me is the stop and whether or not this was - if there's enough to up the reason for the stop to this defendant. And although Deputy Blanchard testified generally speaking about what Deputy Fiedler had seen there was basically only one vague comment that the vehicle matched the description, and Fiedler had only seen one other vehicle or something like that out by Alpine; that's not enough for this Court to link it, quite frankly. It's nothing on Deputy Blanchard. You needed to have Deputy Fiedler here. because of the public interest and the Court determining whether or not this was a legitimate stop or not I need to hear from Deputy Fiedler.

So I am going to set this over for another date so that he can be brought in to testify. Again, I'm not hearing any more testimony with regard to anything after the stop. Clearly, there was probable cause to arrest and clearly the

defendant refused and had no reason not to. It was unreasonable. But I need to be able to hear through credible testimony. And I certainly know the collective observation doctrine. But Deputy Blanchard wasn't able to testify enough about what Deputy Fielder saw and knew and did. So that's why I need him to testify.

(R12:27-29).

Mika's attorney objected to adjourning the hearing (R12:29). In response the Court stated:

I stated what I believe the issue is that I don't need anymore testimony, and I put on the record the reason why I'm doing this, because it's a public safety concern. There's no doubt in my mind that he was driving drunk that night according to the testimony I already have. The question is whether or not they had the right to pull him over and that's what I need to determine and that's my job. So I certainly note your objection for the record but this is what I believe I need to do in order to fully litigate this issue.

(R12:29-30).

The Court then proceeded to schedule an adjourned hearing to obtain additional evidence for July 30, 2019 (R12:30).

## July 30, 2019 Hearing:

Prior the commencement of the continued refusal hearing Mika's attorney again objected to the Court's decision to adjourn the original refusal hearing (R13:3-6). Noting the objection the Court stated:

Well you've made your argument again, disagree with it. It's the reason that I made the Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2019 Page 9 of 28

decision that I did back on June 10th. You're right, evidence had closed, parties had made their argument. But as you also stated the Court does have the discretion to reopen evidence if it believes that it's necessary in order to promote the interest of justice. I absolutely agree with you that one of the aspects of justice protecting a defendant's rights. I also recognize that this is a civil matter, it's not a criminal matter. And I firmly believe that the interest of justice, it is a scale, especially in a civil case. It doesn't just include the defendant's includes the rights of rights. Ιt also public. The state here, quite frankly, made a mistake. They did not bring in the witnesses that they needed to have here for that hearing, but that's not the same as the fact that those witnesses did not exist and that the Court is somehow manipulating the evidence or circumstances to make something when there is nothing there. And, quite frankly, I do not agree with your argument to the Court that this Court is somehow assisting the state in this manner. I recognize that I reopened evidence to allow the second deputy to testify, but again, coming from the Court's perspective of being in the interest of the public and of public safety. It would have been very easy for the Court at the end of that other hearing to just say there's not enough here, I'm dismissing it. But the Court knew from the testimony of the deputy that did testify that there was other evidence out there that was necessary in order for this Court to full examination of the engage in а facts surrounding this incident involving defendant and this civil matter of the refusal.

So for those reasons the Court made that determination I need to hear everything before I can make a decision on that; so that's what I did. That being said, you've made your record. You have preserved it. And I'm going to allow the other deputy who was on the scene and who actually made the traffic stop testify.

(R13:6-8).

#### Deputy Brody Fiedler's Testimony:

At the refusal hearing held on July 30, 2019 the State called one witness, Walworth County Sheriff's Deputy Brody (R13:9-19). Deputy Fiedler testified Fiedler that on February 18, 2019 at approximately 10:00 p.m. he was on duty when he was dispatched to Alpine Valley for a report of a male that was intoxicated and disorderly (R13:9-10, 18). While responding, Deputy Fiedler was advised by dispatch that an off-duty deputy working as a security officer was on scene when the disorderly incident occurred and that he had contact with the intoxicated male suspect who had just left Alpine Valley in a black Audi with Illinois plates (R13:10, 14, 18, 19).

A couple of minutes after receiving this call, Deputy Fiedler located a vehicle matching the description given by dispatch, coming from the direct vicinity of Alpine Valley (R13:10-11, 19). Deputy Fiedler testified that the location of the vehicle, as well as the time he located the vehicle, was consistent with the information he had received from dispatch that the vehicle was leaving Alpine Valley. Deputy Fiedler was westbound on Highway D approaching the intersection of Highway D and Highway 120 when he observed a black Audi with Illinois license plates eastbound on Highway D at the intersection of Highway D and Highway 120. Deputy Fiedler observed that as the black Audi approached

the stop sign on Highway D in the right turn lane, the Audi came to a stop, then moved forward, stopped a second time and then turned south on Highway 120 toward Illinois (R13:10-11, 14-15, 17). There was no other traffic in the area at the time (R13:11, 17).

Upon seeing the black Audi, Deputy Fiedler pulled out behind the Audi and followed the Audi for approximately a quarter mile (R13:12, 16). Once behind the black Audi, Deputy Fiedler testified the Audi traveled extremely slowly in the lane of traffic. The speed limit in that area is fifty-five miles an hour and Deputy Fiedler testified the black Audi was traveling "slow enough that it would have impeded other traffic had there been other vehicles around while under the speed limit." (R13:11, 15-16). Deputy Fiedler testified that it was odd and unusual for a driver to be going as slow as the suspect vehicle was traveling (R13:16). Based on the unusual driving behavior observed by Deputy Fiedler, coupled with the information from dispatch, Deputy Fiedler conducted a traffic stop of the black Audi (R13:12, 16, 17, 19). The stop occurred just south of the intersection of Highway D and Highway 120 on Highway 120 located in the Town of LaFayette, Walworth County, Wisconsin (R13:12).

Deputy Fiedler made contact with the driver of the vehicle, who was identified as Mika. Mika admitted knowing that he was being stopped for having an argument at Alpine Valley (R13:12).

# THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Based upon the evidence adduced at the refusal hearing, the trial court found that there was reasonable suspicion to stop Mika's vehicle. Specifically, the court stated:

standard is [T]he a reasonable articulated suspicion. It's a low level of proof. It has to be more than a hunch, absolutely. But it's not probable cause. The reality is is that both Deputy Blanchard and Deputy Fiedler have now testified that they were working on February 18th of 2019 at about 10:00 p.m. when dispatch put out notification to them that a call had come in to dispatch from off-duty Deputy Ruszkiewicz who was working security at Alpine. That Ruszkiewicz reported that there was intoxicated and disorderly male at Alpine Valley. By the way, it's wintertime. We're not talking about the music theater. We're talking about the adjacent ski lodge. That there was an intoxicated and disorderly male at Alpine who was involved in an incident at Alpine and had driven off in a black Audi with Illinois plates.

Deputy Fiedler testified that within a couple of minutes, not even that much time, he was approaching Alpine. He was coming on D up to the intersection with 120. He was a black Audi across from him approaching on D from the thither direction from Alpine Valley. He watches as this Audi does what he termed an abnormal stop, stopped once, and then crept forward, stopped again, and then made a right hand turn onto

Case 2019AP001488 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-20-2019 Page 13 of 28

Highway 120 heading southbound which as Deputy Fielder noted is in the direction of Illinois. Once the car had turned and he pulled in front of it he noted that it had Illinois plates. followed it for about a quarter mile, saw that it was going very slow to the point where if there was other traffic it would have impeded it. The speed limit there is 55 and it was well under the speed limit. These were concerning to the deputy, but he testified that based on the totality of these circumstances, the information that he knew from dispatch which had relayed it from off-duty Deputy Ruszkiewicz, the information intoxicated and disorderly male involved in an incident at Alpine who has driven off in a black Audi with Illinois plates. That is absolutely reasonable suspicion that a crime may be afoot, that something may have happened. The deputy had called in that there was an intoxicated male involved in an incident at Alpine. The deputy is allowed to rely on that report from another officer which in and of itself without a further explanation of why he thought was intoxicated is enough to make the stop.

Officers are allowed to conduct what are essentially Terry stops of vehicles in order to ascertain if there is criminal activity afoot. So the Court is satisfied that Deputy Fiedler based on his testimony has shown that there was that level of reasonable suspicion that he was able to articulate. This is not some unknown anonymous caller calling in to dispatch. That might be more suspect. It happens all the time that if someone calls in driving down the road and there's someone in front of them weaving all over the road , et cetera, officers try to locate those vehicles and then try to make a traffic stop based on the information that they have received. This is even more than an anonymous caller. This is a known caller who actually is an off-duty deputy from the same department making this assertion. So this is not something where the collective knowledge in terms of needing to have that officer testify case law applies.

R13:27-30.1 The Court concluded:

[T]herefore, based on this record, I do believe that the state has shown as I have said a reasonable and articulated suspicion for stopping this vehicle...

R13:31.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY SUA SPONTE REOPENING THE EVIDENCE AND ADJOURNING THE HEARING.

Mika concedes that a decision whether to reopen a case in order to produce additional testimony is within the broad discretion of the trial court, which 'may on its own motion reopen for further testimony in order to make a more complete record in the interests of equity and justice.' State v. Hanson, 85 Wis.2d 233, 237, 270 N.W.2d 212, 215 (1978). See Mika's Brief at p. 17-18. An appellate court will only reverse a court's decision to reopen a matter if "there [is] no reasonable basis for that decision." Stivarius v. DiVall, 121 Wis. 2d 145, 157, 358 N.W.2d 530 (1984).

In this case, at the close of the hearing Mika argued that the State failed to establish reasonable suspicion for the stop of his vehicle. In response, the State incorrectly

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mika does not challenge the trial court's findings of fact, only whether those facts establish reasonable suspicion to stop. *See* Mika's Appellate Brief at p. 27-28.

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